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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 

This case involves an appeal from a judgment of the United States District Court 

for the District of New Union. (R. at 1.) The district court had proper subject matter 

jurisdiction over the case as the issues arise under the Clean Water Act (CWA), 33 

U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq, a law of the United States, and federal district courts have original 

jurisdiction over any civil action arising under the laws of the United States. 28 U.S.C. § 

1331 (2006). The United States Court of Appeals for the Twelfth Circuit has proper 

jurisdiction to hear appeals from any final decision of the United States District Court for 

the District of New Union. 28 U.S.C. § 1291 (2006).  

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

I. Whether NUWF has standing to bring this case under the citizen suit 
provision against Defendant for violating the CWA. 
 

II. Whether there is a continuing or ongoing violation as required by § 505(a) of 
the CWA for subject matter jurisdiction. 

 
III. Whether NUWF’s citizen suit has been barred by NUDEP’s diligent 

prosecution of Bowman as set out in § 505(b) of the CWA. 
 
IV. Whether Bowman violated the CWA when he moved dredged and fill 

material from one part of a wetland adjacent to navigable water to another part 
of the same wetland.  

 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 

On July 1, 2011, fifteen days after Jim Bob Bowman (Bowman or Defendant) 

commenced land clearing operations on a wetland, the New Union Wildlife Federation 

(NUWF) sent a notice of its intent to sue Bowman for violations of the Clean Water Act 

(CWA) pursuant to the citizen suit provision of the Act, § 505, 33 U.S.C. § 1365 (2006).  
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Shortly thereafter, the New Union Department of Environmental Protection 

(NUDEP) issued a notice of violation to Bowman informing him that he had violated 

state and federal law by clearing the wetland. (R. at 4). NUDEP entered into a settlement 

agreement with Bowman in which Bowman agreed not to clear more wetlands in the 

area. Id. Although Bowman maintained that he had not violated the law, he agreed to 

convey to NUDEP a conservation easement consisting of the 150 foot wide strip of still 

wooded property adjacent to a river, as well as an additional 75 foot buffer zone between 

that area and the cleared wetland. Id. Additionally, Bowman agreed to construct and 

maintain a year-round artificial wetland on the buffer zone. Id. The conservation 

easement, among other provisions, requires Bowman to keep the easement area in its 

natural state and forbids him from developing it in any way other than consistent with an 

artificial wetland. Id. Pursuant to a New Union statute that is identical to §§ 309 (a) and 

(g) of the CWA, id. §§ 1319 (a), (g), NUDEP exercised its statutory authority and issued 

an administrative order to Bowman which incorporated its agreement. Id.  NUDEP did 

not add a civil monetary penalty to the order. Id. On August 1, 2012, Bowman consented 

to the order. Id.  

After issuing its administrative order to Bowman, NUDEP brought suit in federal 

court by filing a complaint against Bowman under § 505 of the CWA. See id. § 1365; id. 

§ 1362(5) (including “State, municipality, commission, or political subdivision of the 

State” within the definition of persons having an interest which may be adversely 

affected for purposes of a citizen suit). (R. at 5). The complaint was filed with the district 

court on August 10, 2011. Id. NUDEP also filed a motion to enter a decree, the terms of 
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which are identical to its state administrative order. Id. Bowman has consented to both 

the motion and the decree, which are still pending in district court. Id.  

Following the filing of the NUDEP complaint, NUWF filed its own § 505 

complaint with the district court on August 30, 2011. (R. at 5). NUWF alleged that 

Bowman filled wetlands without a permit in violation of §§ 301(a) and 404 of the CWA. 

Id. §§ 1311(a), 1344. NUWF additionally sought an order requiring Bowman to remove 

the fill material, restore the wetlands, and pay civil penalties. Id. On September 15, 2012, 

NUWF filed a motion to intervene in the NUDEP action, to consolidate the NUDEP and 

NUWF actions, and opposing the entry of the decree NUDEP had proposed.  

On November 1, 2011, the district court held a status conference on both cases. 

The court granted NUDEP’s motion to intervene in the NUWF complaint, but refused to 

move on any of the other motions. This was done without prejudice to NUWF’s right to 

pursue its complaint or NUDEP’s right to enforce violations of its proposed decree.   

After discovery, the parties each filed cross-motions for summary judgment. The 

district court granted Bowman’s motion on all grounds, finding that 1) NUWF lacked 

standing to bring its § 505 complaint; 2) the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over 

the suit because Bowman’s violations were wholly past; and 3) NUDEP, representing the 

State of New Union, had already taken an enforcement action to resolve the violations; 

and 4) that the addition element of the CWA cause of action was not satisfied when 

Bowman placed dredged and fill material in the wetland.  

Following issuance of the Order of the District Court, (R. at 3), NUWF and 

NUDEP each filed Notices of Appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the 

Twelfth Circuit.   
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STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

 

 Bowman owns one thousand acres of wooded or previously wooded land adjacent 

to the Muddy River in the State of New Union. (R. at 3).  The Muddy River forms the 

border between New Union and Progress, and near Bowman’s property, it is over five 

hundred feet wide and more than six feet deep. Id.  Both upstream and downstream from 

Bowman’s property, the river is used for recreational navigation.  Id.  Of Bowman’s one 

thousand acres, 650 feet are considered part of the shoreline of the river.  Id.  Bowman’s 

property is wholly within the one hundred year flood plain of the river, and this leads to 

nearly yearly flooding when the river is high.  Id.  According to the U.S. Army Corps of 

Engineers’ Wetlands Determination Manual, Bowman’s property is a wetland and is 

hydrologically connected to the river.  Id. at 3-4.  

 Beginning on June 15, 2011, Bowman began land-clearing operations on his 

property and used bulldozers to knock down tress, level vegetation, and push both the 

trees and the vegetation in windrows.  Id. at 4.  He then burned the windrows and used a 

bulldozer to dig trenches—in which he pushed the tress, leveled vegetation remains, and 

ashes.  Id.  Next, he leveled the resulting field by pushing soil from the high portions of 

the field into the trenches and low-lying portions of the field.  Id.  Finally, in order to 

drain the field into the Muddy, he created a wide ditch or swale that ran from the back of 

his property to the river. Id.  Upon completion of the work on July 15, 2011, Bowman left 

a strip of land approximately 150 feet wide adjacent to the Muddy to clear after it had 

drained.  Id.  This strip runs along the 650 length of river frontage on his property.  Id.  
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 NUWF is a non-profit corporation whose main purpose is to protect the fish and 

wildlife of the state by protecting their habitat, among other things.  Id.  It is a 

membership organization funded by the members’ dues and contributions.  

 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 

 The district court erred in holding that NUWF did not have standing to bring suit 

against Bowman.  Under the three-part test announced by the court in Lujan v. Defenders 

of Wildlife, NUWF has established standing in this case.  Through their affidavits, NUWF 

was able to show that it had suffered an injury in fact that was causally connected to 

Bowman’s actions. Following Bowman’s destruction of his wetland, NUWF’s members’ 

ability to use the river and enjoy the aesthetics of the area were negatively affected, and 

under the test put forth by the Court in Sierra Club v. Morton, this qualifies as injury in 

fact.  Also, due to the proximity of the harm and Bowman’s actions, it is reasonable to 

find that the harms suffered by NUWF’s members were causally connected to Bowman’s 

actions.   

 The district court correctly held that no subject matter jurisdiction exists under 

505(a), because Jim Bob Bowman’s activities are wholly past, and that to read the statute 

otherwise would invalidate notice and statute of limitation provisions.  Contrary to cases 

presented by plaintiff, what exists is not an ongoing violation, but the effects of a past 

violation.  Remediation of this past violation is required only where consent decree or 

injunctions so declare, not in all section 404 cases.  As a result, NUWF’s suit must be 

dismissed.   

The district court erred in finding that Defendant’s land clearing activities did not 

violate § 404 of the Clean Water Act, where Defendant discharged fill material into 
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navigable waters of the United States by uprooting, burying and leveling vegetation on a 

wetland by improperly giving deference to EPA constructions of “addition” that were 

developed under § 402 of the CWA, when Bowman’s activities fall under §404.The 

district court also erred in finding that Bowman’s land clearing acts did not constitute 

addition of “fill material” under § 404, where those acts resulted in a portion of the 

wetland being leveled and drained to the extent that the property supported the planting 

of winter wheat.  Applying § 402, the district court’s logic to this case would create the 

absurd result that all of the wetlands in New Union could be filled and destroyed without 

agency review, so long as they are filled with their own materials.  This undermines the 

effects based orientation of 404, intended to protect aquatic ecosystems from any 

pollutant. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 
This case involves an appeal from a district court’s grant of summary judgment. 

Summary judgment is appropriate if “there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and . . . 

the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” FED. R. CIV. P. 56(c). 

Therefore, the issues before this Court are questions of law and are subject to de novo 

appellate review. Pierce v. Underwood, 487 U.S. 552, 557 (1988).  This Court should afford 

no deference to the opinions and conclusions of the lower court. See Salve Regina Coll. v. 

Russell, 499 U.S. 225, 238 (1991) (holding that when “de novo review is compelled, no 

form of appellate deference is acceptable”). 

In making their determination, the court must inquire into the level of review 

required by the CWA, but, unfortunately, the CWA does not articulate its own standard 

of review. Therefore, the appropriate scope of review for CWA claims challenging 
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agency action is the standard set forth in the Administrative Procedure Act. 5 U.S.C. § 

706(2)(A).  Under that section, the reviewing Court shall hold unlawful and set aside 

agency action found to be “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not 

in accordance with law.” Id. The task of a court reviewing agency action under the APA's 

“arbitrary and capricious” standard, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A), is “to determine whether the 

[agency] has considered the relevant factors and articulated a rational connection 

between the facts found and the choice made.” Baltimore Gas & Elec. Co. v. Natural 

Resources Defense Council, Inc., 462 U.S. 87, 97 (1983) (emphasis in original). The 

Court must determine whether NUDEP’s decision was based on a “consideration of the 

relevant factors and whether NUDEP made a clear error of judgment.” Bowman Transp., 

Inc. v. Arkansas-Best Freight Sys., Inc., 419 U.S. 281, 285 (1974). 

“While this is a highly deferential standard of review, it is not a rubber stamp.” 

Citizens Awareness Network, Inc. v. U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Comm'n, 59 F.3d 284, 290 

(1st Cir.1995). Although “the ultimate standard of review is a narrow one,” the Court 

must undertake a “thorough, probing, in-depth review” and a “searching and careful” 

inquiry into the record. Citizens to Preserve Overton Park, Inc. v. Volpe, 401 U.S. 402, 

415–17 (1971). The Court may not set aside the Corps's administrative decision, 

however, “simply because [it] is unhappy with the result reached.” Id. at  1284. 

ARGUMENT 

I. New Union Wildlife Federation has standing to bring suit under 505(a) 

against Jim Bob Bowman for alleged violations of the Clean Water Act. 

 

a. The New Union Wildlife Federation satisfies the three-part test for 

standing established the United States Supreme Court in Lujan v. 

Defenders of Wildlife.  

 



 8 

Under the three-part test for standing established by the United States Supreme 

Court (Court) in Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, NUWF has established standing in this 

case.  505 U.S. 555 (1992).  According to the facts established by the District Court, as 

well the testimony of its members—Dottie Milford, Zeke Norton, and Effie Law 

(members)—NUWF has shown that it suffered an injury in fact that is fairly traceable to 

Bowman’s actions and is likely to be redressed by the actions of this court.  

In Lujan, the Court announced that the “irreducible constitutional minimum” for 

establishing standing occurs if a party can show that they have suffered (1) an injury in 

fact, (2) that is casually connected to the complained of action, and (3) is likely to be 

redressed by a favorable decision by the court. 505 U.S. at 561-62.  In defining “injury in 

fact,” the Court stated that the injury must be “concrete and particularized … and actual 

or imminent, not ‘conjectural’ or ‘hypothetical.’” Id. (quoting Los Angeles v. Lyons, 461 

U.S. 95, 102, 103 (1983)).  However, for cases involving environmental harms, the Court 

has found that harm to the “aesthetics” of an environment can constitute sufficient harm 

to satisfy the injury in fact standard.  Sierra Club v. Morton, 405 U.S.727, 734 (1972).  

Further, in order for NUWF, as an organization, to have standing, it only needs to show 

that one of its members would “have standing to sue in their own right.” Hunt v. 

Washington State Apple Advertising Com’m, 432 U.S. 333, 343 (1977).  

i. As an organization, the New Union Wildlife Federation may bring 

suit on behalf of its members. 

 

For an organization, such as NUWF, to establish standing, it must show that one 

of its members has the ability to bring suit on their own.  In determining whether an 

organization has met this standard, the Court has held that  
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an association has standing to bring suit on behalf of its members when: 
(a) its members would otherwise have standing to sue in their own right; 
(b) the interests it seeks to protect are germane to the organization's 
purpose; and (c) neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires 
the participation of individual members in the lawsuit.  Id. 

 
Here, since NUWF is an organization whose primary purpose is to “protect the fish and 

wildlife of the state by protecting their habitats,” (R. at 4), it is clear that the interests of 

the members in protecting the Muddy, and its surrounding wetlands, satisfies the second 

requirement.  Also, although they provided affidavits in this action, the individual 

members were not required to actively participate in this lawsuit.  Id. at 6.  Thus, the only 

remaining inquiry is whether NUWF’s members would have standing to sue in their own 

right. 

ii. Bowman’s actions have caused NUWF’s members to suffer 

injury in fact 
 

In order to have standing in federal court, an individual must first show they have 

suffered an injury in fact. Lujan, 505 U.S. at 561-62.  Although this injury normally must 

be one that is “concrete and particularized … actual or imminent, not ‘conjectural’ or 

‘hypothetical,’” Id. (quoting Lyons, 461 U.S. at 102-03), in environmental cases, the 

Court has found that an injury to the aesthetics of an area qualifies as injury in fact. 

Sierra Club, 405 U.S. at 734.  In Sierra Club, the court held that development to the 

Sequoia National Park, which “would destroy or otherwise adversely affect the scenery, 

natural and historic objects and wildlife of the park and would impair the enjoyment of 

the park for future generations,” would certainly “amount to an ‘injury in fact’ sufficient 

to lay the basis for standing.” Id.   

However, in establishing whether a plaintiff has standing, the proper focus is on 

whether there has been injury to the plaintiff, not the environment.  See Friends of the 
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Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Environmental Services, 528 U.S. 167, 181 (2000).  In Friends of 

the Earth, the Court found that the plaintiffs’ decisions to aver their normal activities at a 

local river, because of their belief that it had been polluted, constituted injury in fact.  See 

id. at 182-83.  In addition, in a summary judgment motion, a plaintiff merely needs to 

“‘set forth’ by affidavit or other evidence ‘specific facts,’ which for purposes of the 

summary judgment motion will be taken to be true.” Lujan, 504 U.S. at 561.   

 First, as it applies to this case, since the court is reviewing this case’s dismissal at 

summary judgment, all of the facts “set forth by affidavit or other evidence … [must] be 

taken to be true.” Id.   According to the affidavits supplied by NUWF, its members feared 

that Bowman’s actions had led to the Muddy River becoming more polluted. (R. at 6).  

Next, since they often use the river for “recreational boating and fishing [and for] 

picnicking on its banks,” Id., their members’ fears that it was polluted seem to be very 

similar to those expressed by the plaintiffs in Friends of the Earth.  In that case, the court 

found that the plaintiffs’ decision to change their use of the river, due to their fears that it 

had become polluted, constituted a cognizable injury in fact. See Friends of the Earth, 

528 U.S. at 182-83.  In this case, their belief that the river was polluted was corroborated 

by Milford’s testimony that the river actually looked more polluted.  (R. at 6). Also, in his 

affidavit, Norton stated that Bowman’s property had always been an ideal location for 

frogging, but since the accident, he had been unable to find as many frogs near the 

property.  Id.  Thus, following the Court’s holding in Friends of the Earth, since 

NUWF’s members feared the river had been polluted, which was corroborated by their 

affidavits, and this fear had an adverse effect on their use of the river, the appellant 

requests that the court find that this constituted injury in fact.  
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 In the alternative, according to the test applied by the Court in Sierra Club, the 

plaintiffs may also have suffered injury in fact due to the effects of Bowman’s actions on 

the aesthetics of the area.  In Sierra Club, the Court found that “[a]esthetic and 

environmental well-being, like economic well-being, are important ingredients of the 

quality of life in our society,” and the impairment of these interests clearly constitute an 

injury in fact. 405 U.S. at 734.  However, in order to satisfy the injury in fact 

requirement, the plaintiff must show that “aesthetic and recreational” value of the area 

was affected by the defendant’s actions and that they were personally affected by these 

actions. Id.; Friends of the Earth, 528 U.S. at 181.  In this case, the destruction of the 

wetland and its corresponding effect on the river seriously impaired both the aesthetic 

and environmental well being of the river.  As noted in NUWF’s affidavits, Bowman’s 

destruction of a wetland, which is hydrologically connected to the river, had a detrimental 

effect on the Muddy River.  (R. at 3,6).  Further, since one of NUWF’s members actually 

observed the river becoming more polluted, Bowman’s actions had a direct impact on 

their ability to use and enjoy the river.  Thus, Bowman’s destruction of the wetland had a 

direct effect on the “aesthetic and recreational” value of the river and this affected 

NUWF’s members’ ability to enjoy the river. Based on the Court’s holding in Sierra 

Club, these injuries clearly satisfy the requirement of injury in fact.  

iii. The injuries at question were casually connected to Bowman’s 

actions 

 

After establishing that an injury in fact has occurred, the plaintiff must show that 

the injury in question “can be traced to the challenged action of the defendant, and not 

injury that results from the independent action of some third party not before the court.”  

See e.g., Simon v. Eastern Kentucky Welfare Organization, 426 U.S. 26, 41-42 (1976).  
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So, in order to establish standing, a plaintiff must be able to reasonably show that their 

injury could be causally connected to the defendant.  Also, as mentioned above, at the 

summary judgment stage of the litigation, the court must accept as true any affidavits or 

“specific facts” presented by the plaintiff. Lujan, 504 U.S. at 561.   

In her testimony, Milford observed that the Muddy River looked much more 

polluted following Bowman’s destruction of his property. (R. at 6).  Also, Norton 

testified that since Bowman destroyed the wetlands, the number of frogs in the area had 

significantly decreased. Id.  Accepting as true that both of these events occurred soon 

after Bowman’s actions, it is reasonable to say that they were caused by Bowman’s 

actions.  In addition, as it relates to the aesthetics of the river, all three of the affidavits 

mentioned a change in the area following Bowman’s actions.  In light of this evidence, it 

is reasonable to conclude that the injuries to NUWF and its members were caused by 

Bowman’s actions.  

iv. The injuries suffered by NUWF will likely be redressed by a 

favorable ruling by the court 

 

  In order for a plaintiff to have standing, they must show that their alleged injuries 

are “likely to be redressed by a favorable decision by the court.” Lujan, 505 U.S. at 561-

62.  However, in this case, Bowman never challenged whether the alleged injuries would 

be likely redressed by a favorable ruling by the court. (R. at 5).  In his cross-motion for 

summary judgment, Bowman only argued that NUWF had not “suffered an injury in fact 

fairly traceable to Bowman’s alleged violations.”  Id.  As this issue was also never 

discussed in the district court’s opinion, the appellant contends that it is not before this 

court on appeal.  As such, we would ask the court to find that if NUWF did suffer an 
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injury in fact that was caused by Bowman’s actions, it is likely that these injuries could 

be redressed by implementation of the original decree issued by NUDEP.   

II. The court does not have subject matter jurisdiction under  505(a) of the 

Clean Water Act because Jim Bob Bowman’s fill activities are wholly past 

and do not constitute a continuing or ongoing violation. 

 

a. Bowman’s fill activities have ceased, and do not present a discrete 

violation by a person as required for a violation to be continuing. 

 The violation at Mr. Bowman’s property ceased on July 15 when Bowman 

finished adding fill material to the wetlands.  Accordingly, NUDEP requests that the 

Court grant summary judgment of NUWF’s claim, allowing the agreement between Mr. 

Bowman and NUDEP, which prevents any future violations, to remain as is.  

The citizen suit provision of the Act requires a continuing violation to create 

subject matter jurisdiction. 33 U.S.C. 1365(a)(1).  To determine whether an ongoing 

obligation exists, courts look first to the language of the statute. Interamericas 

Investments, Ltd. v. Bd. of Governors of the Fed. Reserve Sys., 111 F.3d 376, 383 (5th 

Cir. 1997). The Act defines “discharge of a pollutant” as “any addition of any pollutant to 

navigable waters from any point source.” 33 U.S.C. 1311(a). Crucially, discharge is, “of 

any pollutant by any person” Id. (emphasis added).  The expectation that discharge be ‘by 

a person’ lends itself to the requirement of a discrete act which is distinguishable from 

act’s effects.  

Courts have previously recognized the distinction between discrete violations and 

the effects of violation under section 404. United States v. Rutherford Oil Corp., 756 F. 

Supp. 2d 782, 791 (S.D. Tex. 2010) (“Once the violator stops adding a pollutant in 

violation of a permit, the violation itself is over. What remains are the effects of the 

violation, but absent a continuing obligation that is itself violated, the effects are not 
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themselves violations”). NUWF cites to one case where the continued presence of 

dredged and fill material in a wetland constituted an ongoing violation. See Sasser v. 

Administrator, 990 F.2d 127 (4th Cir. 1993). However, the negative policy impacts of 

extending that holding have been subsequently criticized in multiple circuits. See, e.g. id.; 

see also United States v. Telluride Co., 884 F. Supp. 404, 408 (D. Colo. 1995) rev'd on 

other grounds, 146 F.3d 1241 (10th Cir. 1998)(holding that to adopt the continuing 

violation doctrine of Sasser would rob the statute of limitations provision of any 

meaning.)  

Moreover, NUWF’s reliance on Sasser ignores precedent established in other 

environmental cases, where courts dismissed claims for injunctive relief as moot once the 

project at issue was completed. Nat'l Parks Conservation Ass'n, Inc. v. U.S. Army Corps 

of Engineers, 574 F. Supp. 2d 1314, 1322 (S.D. Fla. 2008) (holding that environmental 

organizations' claims for injunctive relief and an order requiring removal of allegedly 

unlawfully placed fill were mooted by expiration of challenged Clean Water Act (CWA) 

permit to fill wetlands, where already existing fills were wholly past violations). In this 

body of cases, past violative acts were not considered ongoing for purposes of mootness, 

even where the effects of those acts were ongoing. See, e.g., Save the Bay, Inc. v. United 

States Army, 639 F.2d 1100, 1103 (5th Cir.1981) (holding that suit alleging CWA 

violations caused by railroad construction did not fall under an exception to the doctrine 

of mootness, even though use of the railroad was continuing and ongoing, because the 

allegedly violative act ended when the project was completed); see also Fla. Wildlife 

Fed'n v. Goldschmidt, 611 F.2d 547, 548 (5th Cir.1980).  
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Under the present facts, Bowman’s placement of fill into the wetland was a 

discrete violation by a person, now ceased.  Bowman commenced filling activity 

beginning on June 15, 2011 and ceased that activity on July, 15, 2011. (R. at 5). Indeed 

Bowman’s only activity on the wetland subsequent to July 15 was to sow winter wheat, 

an activity made possible only because Bowman’s land clearing and draining efforts were 

complete.  At that point, under the definitions of the Act, the violation became past and 

the statute of limitations began to toll.  To read the Act otherwise would muddy the 

distinction between past and continuing violations envisioned by the drafters of the Act, 

undermining both the notice requirement and statute of limitations provision. Gwaltney of 

Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay Found., Inc., 484 U.S. 49, 50, 108 S. Ct. 376, 378, 98 

L. Ed. 2d 306 (1987) (holding that allowing prosecution of wholly past actions would 

render insensible the notice and statute of limitation provisions of the Act).   

b. Remediation is a case-specific option for enforcing section 404 at the 

discretion of agencies and courts, and is not mandated for all section 

404 cases. 

 

The cases cited by Plaintiff to support the argument that 404 violations are 

ongoing until remediated all fit the following factual pattern: 1) fill is placed in a water of 

the United States, 2) an agency demands the cessation of addition or its remediation, and 

3) the defendant refuses to comply with both agency orders and court injunctions.  The 

only cases in which courts have held the existence of fill in a wetland to be a continuing 

violation are those where the violator repeatedly flouted agency orders and the courts are 

forced to compel action on the part of recalcitrant parties.  Remediation was there used, 

not as a requirement in all 404 cases, but as a last resort when all other remedies had 

failed. 
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The cases cited by the plaintiff, Sasser, and the line it follows, are based not on 

violations of statutory duty under the Clean Water Act.  Instead, Sasser comes from a line 

of cases in which courts required remediation by defendants who violated consent 

decrees and court orders which themselves required remediation.   In Ciampatti, from 

which Sasser derives the ‘continuous violation’ argument, a landowner was judged to be 

in continuous violation when he continued to fill wetlands and build homes upon them 

against the order of state agency. There, a penalty of $1,000 dollars a day was imposed 

for “continuing to illegally fill wetlands” in violation of a cease and desist letter, a 

restraining order and an injunction. United States v. Ciampitti, 669 F. Supp. 684, 699 

(D.N.J. 1987)   There, the actions of individuals under defendants’ control, in 

contravention of agency orders, constituted the ongoing violation.  Neither discrete 

individual action in violation of the consent decree, or requirement of remediation in the 

decree exists in the current case. 

To expand the logic of extreme cases such as these would constrain the discretion 

of agencies and courts to apply the variety remedies provided for by the Act.  Taking 

such steps here, against a violator who has complied with the agency’s consent order, 

misrepresents the requirements of section 404 and upsets the carefully balanced system of 

enforcement carefully provided for by the Act.  To so hold would potentially require 

what was once a costly remedy of last resort to be applied in a broad set of cases going 

forward. 

 

 

 

 



 17 

III. NUDEP’s Prosecution of the Consent Decree Satisfies the Diligent 

Prosecution Requirements of Section 505 and Summary Judgment Was Properly 

Granted as a Result. 

 

The Clean Water Act provides that “any citizen” may “commence a civil action 

on their own behalf” against an entity alleged to be in violation of an order issued by 

administrator of the state.  33 USC §1365(A).  This broad right is barred where the state 

has “commenced and is diligently prosecuting” an action to ensure compliance with the 

“standard, limitation or order.”  Id. 

Here, the order is the consent decree signed by Bowman and NUDEP.  There is 

no dispute that the order is being enforced, only that its terms, are not sufficient to satisfy 

the requirements of the act. (R. at 7).  This argument will necessarily turn on the 

resolution of that point, but courts in the past have held that “a citizen-plaintiff cannot 

overcome the presumption of diligence merely by showing that the agency's prosecution 

strategy is less aggressive than he would like.” The Piney Run Pres. Ass'n v. The County 

Com'rs Of Carroll County, MD, 523 F.3d 453, 459 (4th Cir. 2008).  As argued above, by 

halting the discharge into the wetlands and reasonably ensuring that it will not reoccur, 

the Agency has halted an ongoing violation and so satisfied the requirements of the Act.  

a. Allowing a citizen suit to overturn consent decree under a novel 

theory goes against fundamental canons of statutory construction. 

 

To allow a citizen suit on the novel grounds advanced by plaintiffs goes against 

the Court’s admonition that  “it is an elemental canon of statutory construction that where 

a statute expressly provides a particular remedy or remedies, a court must be chary of 

reading others into it.”  Transamerica Mortg. Advisors, Inc. (TAMA) v. Lewis, 444 U.S. 

11, 19, 100 S. Ct. 242, 247, 62 L. Ed. 2d 146 (1979).  Because plaintiff advances a theory 

which skirts the words of the statute and relies instead upon a theory which turns on the 
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violation of consent orders rather than the Act itself, it is appropriate to be chary here.   

Consent orders, which are not being violated here, vary; to hold that remedies arising out 

of these factually-specific orders should represent the intent of the act has no basis. 

 It is a settled principle that the words of a statute are not to be redundant.  There is 

no rationale for bringing a citizen suit here that would not render statutory language 

redundant given that, as demonstrated above, there is currently no permit violation or 

reasonable expectation that such would recur. See § 1365(f)(6) (providing that citizen 

suits in the case of a violation of “a permit or condition thereof”); Atchafalaya 

Basinkeeper v. Chustz, 682 F.3d 356, 359 (5th Cir. 2012) (holding that the Clean Water 

Act does not provide citizens the right to sue to enforce the conditions of permits for the 

discharge of dredged or fill material).  Both 402 and 404 require “discharges” in violation 

of permit conditions.  Accepting 1311(a)’s definition of discharges as being “by a 

person” there is not discharge here, only the effect of an entirely past discharge and so no 

violation of the consent order. 

b. Courts afford broad deference to agency consent decrees in order to 

promote voluntary settlement of environmental claims brought 

pursuant to the Clean Water Act.  

 

Because agencies are the primary enforcers of the Act, citizen suits undermining 

administrator’s ability to reach voluntary settlements must overcome deference to agency 

judgment. N. & S. Rivers Watershed Ass'n, Inc. v. Town of Scituate, 949 F.2d 552, 558 

(1st Cir. 1991) (holding that courts accord a “high degree of deference accorded 

analogous and diligently enforced governmental action”). This deference comes from the 

understanding that agencies are the primary enforcers of the Act, and that the voluntary 

settlement mechanism is intended to expedite their ability to end violations. Karr v. 



 19 

Hefner, 475 F.3d 1192, 1197 (10th Cir. 2007) (“If a defendant is exposed to a citizen suit 

whenever the EPA grants it a concession, defendants will have little incentive to 

negotiate consent decrees”). 

The case here is precisely the type of situation the court envisioned in Karr, in 

which a request for a more aggressive enforcement theory is being used to attack a 

consent decree.  While citizen enforcement surely has its place, it is not to undermine the 

necessary compromises of the enforcement process. Arkansas Wildlife Fed'n v. ICI 

Americas, Inc., 29 F.3d 376, 380 (8th Cir. 1994) (“it would be unreasonable and 

inappropriate to find failure to diligently prosecute simply because [defendants] prevailed 

in some fashion or because a compromise was reached”). The consent decree signed 

satisfies the requirements of the act to halt an ongoing violation.  By the terms of cases 

cited by plaintiff, the terms of consent decrees, not the Act, determine what remedies the 

court may properly enforce.  As Bowman has complied with all consent decree terms, no 

such discrepancy exists in the present case.  The Court here properly defers to the 

Agency’s discretion in setting the terms of its agreements with violators, to facilitate the 

broader goals of the Act. 

IV. The district court erred when it found that Defendant did not violate § 404 of 

the Clean Water Act when he uprooted wetland vegetation and placed the resulting 

fill material into a water of the United States. 

 

Congress enacted the Clean Water Act to “restore and maintain the chemical, 

physical and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters.” See 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a). The 

goal of the Act is to achieve “water quality which provides for the protection and 

propagation of fish, shellfish, and wildlife and provides for recreation in and on the 



 20 

water.” § 1251(a)(2). Accordingly, the CWA makes it unlawful to discharge dredged or 

fill material into navigable waters without a permit. 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1344(a).  

Section 301(a) of the CWA prohibits “the discharge of any pollutant by any 

person,” except in compliance with one of the permitting schemes enumerated in the Act, 

including § 404. Id. § 1311(a).  The Act defines “discharge of a pollutant” as “any 

addition of any pollutant to navigable waters from any point source . . . .” 33 U.S.C. § 

1362(12). Accordingly, an act violates Section 301 where it satisfies four elements: 1 (1) 

addition (2) of a pollutant (3) from a point source (4) into navigable waters. Id. The 

parties in this matter do not dispute that the latter three elements are met by Bowman’s 

land clearing activities. (R. at 8-9). As such, they may be dispensed with at the outset. 

The CWA defines “navigable waters” as “the waters of the United States, 

including the territorial seas.” § 1362(7). Consistent with the intent of Congress, the 

Army Core of Engineers(COE), the agency which enforces Section 404, construes the 

“waters of the United States” to include interstate waters and wetlands adjacent to those 

waters. United States v. Riverside Bayview Homes, Inc., 474 U.S. 121, 132-35, 106 S.Ct. 

455, 88 L.Ed.2d 419 (1985). Bowman’s property lies adjacent to the Muddy River, which 

all parties agree is navigable water. Additionally, the property meets the Corps’ criteria 

for wetlands set forth in the 1987 Corps of Engineers Wetlands Delineation Manual. (R. 

at 3, 9). The requirement for navigable water is satisfied.   

                                                 
1 Section 404 cases also warrant the determination that the act in question does not fall under the normal 
farming practices exception described in Section 404(f). Id. § 1344(f). The exception generally applies to 
“ongoing” farming activities, not rather land clearing undertaken to prepare for farming. See Avoyelles, 715 
F.2d at 925-6. (“Because no farming operation was or could have been contemplated [on the property] until 
after the acreage had been cleared . . . the activities . . . were not “normal farming activities”). As such, the 
exemption does not apply to this case. See also Greenfield Mills, Inc. v. Macklin, 361 F.3d 934, 950 (7th 
Cir. 2004) (“Congress intended that Section 1344(f)(1) exempt from the permit process only ‘narrowly 
defined activities ... that cause little or no adverse effects either individually or cumulatively [and which do 
not] convert more extensive areas of water into dry land...” (quoting 3 Legislative History 420) (internal 
citations omitted).  
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Section 502(14) defines a “point source” as “any discernible, confined and 

discrete conveyance, including but not limited to any . . . container, rolling stock, 

concentrated animal feeding operation, or vessel . . . from which pollutants are or may be 

discharged . . . .” Id. § 1362(14). The record shows that beginning on June 15, 2011, 

Bowman used bulldozers to level wetland vegetation and push the flora into windrows so 

that they could be burned. (R. at 4). He also used bulldozers to dig trenches and push 

vegetation from high portions of the wetland to low lying areas so that the remaining 

vegetation could be leveled and drained. (R. at 4). Courts have consistently held that 

bulldozers and other machinery utilized in land clearing meet the definition of a point 

source. See, e.g., Avoyelles Sportsmen's League, Inc. v. Marsh, 715 F.2d 897, 922 (5th 

Cir.1983) (classifying bulldozers and backhoes as point sources under the CWA); United 

States v. Tull, 615 F.Supp. 610, 622 (E.D.Va.1983) (holding bulldozers and dump trucks 

to be point sources), aff'd, 769 F.2d 182 (4th Cir.1985), rev'd on other grounds, 481 U.S. 

412, 107 S.Ct. 1831, 95 L.Ed.2d 365 (1987); Concerned Area Residents for Env't v. 

Southview Farm, 34 F.3d 114, 118 (2d Cir. 1994) (finding that manure spreading vehicles 

and tankers are point sources under the Act).  The point source requirement is met.  

Section 502(6) defines “pollutant” as several potential materials, including 

“dredged spoil . . . biological materials . . . rock [and] sand discharged into water.” Id. § 

1362(6). Trees and other vegetation are biological materials, and courts have considered 

uprooted soils to be dredged spoil, regardless of whether the soil is submerged deep 

beneath water’s surface or located in a wetland. See, e.g., United States v. Deaton, 332 

F.3d 698 (4th Cir. 2003); Avoyelles Sportsmen's League, Inc. v. Marsh, 715 F.2d 897, 

923 (5th Cir. 1983).  The requirement for a pollutant is satisfied. 
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a. Theories of addition advanced by the District Court regarding section 402 

do not control, as the Core of Engineers, not the EPA, has primary 

enforcement authority for Section 404. 

The question then is whether these activities constituted an addition. The district 

court, which held that an addition did not occur, cites two theories developed by the EPA 

to administer the NPDES scheme as support for its analysis. First, the court cites “outside 

world” definition, which stands for the proposition that the discharged material must 

come from somewhere other than the wetland into which it is placed to constitute a 

pollutant. See Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Gorsuch, 693 F.2d 156, 175 (D.C.Cir. 1982). 

Similarly, the court points to the “unitary water theory,” which asserts that material 

removed from a navigable water and deposited back into the same water cannot 

constitute addition, because all navigable waters are one for the purposes of Section 301. 

See Friends of the Everglades v. South Florida Water Management District, 570 F.3d 

1210 (11th Cir. 2009).  

Both cases cite to Section 402, rather than 404. Section 404 provides a fill 

permitting scheme which authorizes the COE to issue permits “for the discharge of 

dredged or fill materials into the navigable waters.” Id. § 1344.  Congress intended that 

section 404 protect wetlands.”  Congress’ intent was affirmed by the Supreme Court in 

United States v. Riverside Bayview Homes, Inc. Denis Collins Swords, The 

Comprehensive Wetlands Conservation and Management Act of 1991: A Restructuring 

of Section 404 That Affords Inadequate Protection for Critical Wetlands, 53 La. L. Rev. 

163, 173 (1992) (the statute has been so interpreted by the Environmental Protection 

Agency and the Army Corps of Engineers. See 40 C.F.R. § 232.2(g) (1989); 33 C.F.R. § 

328 (1989). In 1985, the Supreme Court upheld these interpretations and encouraged a 

broad reading of section 404. United States v. Riverside Bayview Homes, Inc., 474 U.S. 
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121 (1985).Ted Griswold, Wetland Protection Under Section 404 of the Clean Water Act: 

An Enforcement Paradox, 27 San Diego L. Rev. 139, 181 (1990). 

Section 404 originated as a tool for implementing federal power under the 

commerce clause, to facilitate the Corp's permitting program “for traditional ‘dredge and 

fill’ activities in navigable waters” rather than as a means for protecting wetlands.50 Denis 

Collins Swords, The Comprehensive Wetlands Conservation and Management Act of 

1991: A Restructuring of Section 404 That Affords Inadequate Protection for Critical 

Wetlands, 53 La. L. Rev. 163, 169-71 (1992) 

By contrast, Section 402, or the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 

(NPDES) authorizes the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to issue permits for the 

discharge of pollutants from point sources, “except as provided” in Section 404. Id. § 

1342(a)(1). This court has no controlling circuit precedent on the unitary waters theory or 

from the outside theory, much less any evidence that either theory has been applied to 

Section 404.  

Indeed, the new EPA regulation, which the court in Friends of the Everglades 

cites as its only support for applying the unitary waters theory, was developed in the 

preamble to the NPDES Water Transfers Rule. See NPDES Water Transfer Rule, 73 

Fed.Reg. 33,697-708 (June 13, 2008) (codified at 40 C.F.R. § 122.3(i)). As a result, 

Defendant’s argument that the unitary waters theory should be afforded any deference, 

much less Chevron deference, falls flat with respect to a statutory provision it was not 

intended to treat. See Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 

837 (1984) See also Friends of Everglades v. S. Florida Water Mgmt. Dist. 570 F. 3d 

1210, 1218 (11th Cir. 2009) citing (United States v. Santos, 553 U.S. 507, 512 (2008) 
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(noting that “context gives meaning” with regard to the circumstances under which a 

statute is ambiguous). 

Because plaintiffs must often establish that a discharge of dredged or fill material 

is a discharge of pollutants under § 1311, a line of cases has emerged applying the § 

1362(12) definition of pollutant discharge, including the concept of “addition,” to facts 

involving the discharge of dredged material. In this context, courts have held that dredged 

material—almost by definition redeposited sediment, see Avoyelles Sportsmen's League, 

Inc. v. Marsh, 715 F.2d 897, 924 n. 43 (5th Cir.1983)—constitutes an “addition” for the 

purpose of finding a violation of § 1311's prohibition on pollutant discharge, thereby 

triggering enforcement authority. 

With that said, cases cited by plaintiff do not stand for the proposition that 

redeposited sediment also constitutes an “addition” within the meaning of pollutant 

discharge under § 1342, or under the NPDES permit scheme Froebel v. Meyer, 13 F. 

Supp. 2d 843, 865-66 (E.D. Wis. 1998) aff'd, 217 F.3d 928 (7th Cir. 2000). The Supreme 

Court has recognized that Section 404 is fundamentally different that 402. In Rapanos, 

the Court stated: “In contrast to the pollutants normally covered by Section 402, ‘dredged 

or fill material,’ which is typically deposited for the sole purpose of staying put, does not 

normally wash downstream, and thus does not constitute an addition  . . . to navigable 

waters when deposited un upstream isolated wetlands. The Act recognizes this distinction 

by providing a separate permitting program for such discharges in § 1344(a).” Rapanos v. 

United States, 547 U.S. 715, 744-745 (2006).  

In both Gorsuch and Consumers Power Co., the EPA argued that for NPDES 

requirements to apply, “water quality changes must result from the addition of pollutants” 



 25 

where “a source physically introduces a pollutant into water from the outside world. See 

Nat'l Wildlife Fed'n v. Gorsuch, 693 F.2d 156, 165 (D.C. Cir. 1982); Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n 

v. Consumers Power Co., 862 F.2d 580 (6th Cir. 1988) (holding that hydroelectric dam’s 

movement of pollutants downstream, where water would have inevitably flowed, was not 

an “addition” under Section 402). 

Ultimately, the two regimes contemplate two inherently different types of 

discharge. Under 402, though substances might be harmful, inimical to life, and change 

the character of the water, they must do more than transform the essential character of 

water.  Section 402 differentiates between oil, sanitary waste and municipal waste, but 

not entrained fish (Nat’l) or dissolved oxygen, heat, and sediments (Gorsuch). In 

Gorsuch  the court stated “EPA’s construction is entitled to deference for the additional 

reason that the EPA is principally responsible for administering the NPDES system.” 

Gorsuch, 693 F.2d at 173. 

By contrast, section 404, administered by the Corps and applicable here, uses an 

effects-based test which easily classifies sediment as discharge. The Corps and not the 

EPA regulates the discharge of fill material into waters of the United States. § 1344; Kory 

R. Watson, Fill Material Pollution Under the Clean Water Act: A Need for Legislative 

Change, 35 S. Ill. U. L.J. 335, 339 (2011); see also Coeur Alaska, Inc. v. Southeast 

Alaska Conservation Council, 129 S.Ct. 2458 (2009) (“Under Clean Water Act (CWA), 

if Army Corps of Engineers has authority to issue permit for discharge of fill material, 

then Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) lack authority to do so”). As such, even 

were the unitary waters theory and from the outside world extended to Section 404, 
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EPA’s interpretation is not definitive.   While EPA maintains the right to exercise a veto 

power under section 404(c), it has chosen not to exercise that power in this case. 

Applying 402 definitions to 404 cases would have a number of unsettling policy 

effects within the context of section 404, which Supreme Court affirmed as its goal for 

wetland protection.  Codifying a system where wetlands may be filled without review or 

reprieve so long as wetlands are filled using indigenous materials would eviscerate the 

goal of wetland protection.  The District Court’s logic would allow all of New Unions 

wetlands to be filled without review so long as they are filled with their own materials.  

This would undermine the purpose of the Act, and create uncertainty among the regulated 

community as to just how far biological material must travel, or else how different in 

composition it must be, to require a permit. 

b. The district court erred when it found that Bowman’s land clearing 

acts did not constitute addition of “fill material” under § 404, where 

those acts resulted in a portion of the wetland being leveled and 

drained with the effect that the property supported the planting of 

winter wheat.   

Section 404 provides that the Secretary of the COE may issue permits for the 

“discharge of dredged or fill material in to the navigable waters.” 33 U.S.C. § 1344. 

While the CWA does not define “fill material,” the COE and EPA have defined it as 

“material placed in waters of the United States where the material has the effect of: (i) 

Replacing any portion of a water of the United States with dry land; or (ii) Changing the 

bottom elevation of any portion of a water of the United States.” 33 C.F.R. § 

323.2(e)(COE’s definition); 40 C.F.R. § 122.2 (2011) (EPA’s definition). The record 

provides that over the course of a month, Bowman uprooted wetland vegetation and 

deposited it onto the wetland to the effect that the property supported the planting of 

winter wheat, which can only occur on dry land. (R. at 2-4). Further, material that 
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replaces  “any portion” of a water of the United States with dry land is fill material under 

§ 404. § 1344. As a result, Bowman’s activities constitute a violation of CWA under 

COE’s effects-based definition, even though he did not clear the portion of his property 

adjacent to Muddy River. 

When the district court determined that Bowman did not violate § 404 of the 

Clean Water Act, it mistakenly relied upon § 402 rather than the “fill material” scheme 

enumerated by § 404.  The Supreme Court, however, has recognized that regarding fill 

material, § 404 is fundamentally different that §402. In Rapanos, the Court stated:  

In contrast to the pollutants normally covered by Section 402, “dredged or 
fill material,” which is typically deposited for the sole purpose of staying 
put, does not normally wash downstream, and thus does not constitute an 
addition . . . to navigable waters when deposited un upstream isolated 
wetlands. The Act recognizes this distinction by providing a separate 
permitting program for such discharges in § 1344(a). Rapanos v. United 

States, 547 U.S. 715, 744-745 (2006).  

Indeed, this is the exact distinction that courts applied in the §402 cases cited by Bowman 

and the district court. See Gorsuch, 693 F.2d 165 (finding no “addition” under § 402, 

where dam’s movement of pollutants downstream was inevitable); Consumers Power 

Co., 862 F.2d 580 (holding that hydroelectric dam’s movement of pollutants was not an 

“addition” under § 402, because pollutants’ downstream movement would have occurred 

irrespective of the dam); see also United States v. Sinclair Oil Co., 767 F.Supp. 200 

(D.Mont.1990). 

Under § 404, the “discharge of a pollutant” is conceived of and regulated by the 

COE and EPA in such a way that 1) seeks to prevent destruction of wetlands and 2) 

acknowledges that that destruction can and does happen most frequently through the 

deposit of soils, biomass and other indigenous materials. This is apparent in the COE’s 

unique, effects-based approach to § 404, as well as Congress’ broad menu of potential 
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pollutants, any of which could have the effect of creating dry land or changed bottom 

elevation. See Final Revisions to the Clean Water Act Regulatory Definitions of “Fill 

Material” and “Discharge of Fill Material,” 67 Fed. Reg. 31129, 31133 (May 9, 

2002)(providing “rock, sand, soil, clay [and] construction debris” as examples of fill 

material, but excluding munitions and other hazardous chemicals, as waste disposal 

activities continue to be “regulated under section 402 of the Clean Water Act”) (“2002 

Rule”); see also  United States v. Sinclair Oil Co., 767 F.Supp. 200 (D.Mont.1990) 

(“plain dirt and other “seemingly benign substances like rock, sand, cellar dirt, and 

biological materials are specifically designated as pollutants under the Clean Water Act. . 

. .Congress had good reason to be concerned about the reintroduction of these materials 

into . . . wetlands”). The COE and EPA have stated that the goal of the 2002 Rule is to 

use an “objective, effects-based test helps ensure that discharges with similar 

environmental effects will be treated similarly [and] prevents uncertainty for the 

regulated community as to what regulatory program applies to particular discharges.” See 

2002 Rule. The harmful effects of pollutant on a wetland are the significant factor in 

determining that “addition” has occurred, rather than whether that material is “from an 

outside source.” See id.  

By contrast, applying § 402’s logic to this case would create the absurd result that 

all of the wetlands in New Union could be filled and destroyed without agency review, so 

long as they were filled with their own materials. This result would undermine the 

effects-based orientation of § 404, which the COE states is intended “to ensure protection 

of the aquatic ecosystem for any pollutant that fills water,” see id. (emphasis added). 

Additionally, applying § 402 principles that fails to treat “like discharges” similarly as 
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intended under § 404, because their point of origin and other factors will create 

uncertainty among the regulated community regarding how far biological material must 

travel or  how different in composition it must be before seeking NUDEP’s approval. 

  




